IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS
OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: **April 28 2024**
08:00PM EDT
Transaction ID **72489081**

NO. 24-26

MATTHEW R. IRBY, STATE TAX COMMISSIONER OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent Below, Petitioner,

v.

EQUINOR USA ONSHORE PROPERTIES, INC.,

Petitioner Below, Respondent,

**On Appeal from the Intermediate Court of Appeals of West Virginia,
Nos. 22-ICA-111, 22-ICA-225, 22-ICA-226**

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

**PATRICK MORRISEY
ATTORNEY GENERAL**

Sean M. Whelan (WV Bar No. 12067)

Deputy Attorney General

Kevin C. Kidd (WV Bar No. 13642)

Assistant Attorney General

State Capitol Complex

1900 Kanawha Boulevard, East

Building 1, Room W-435

Charleston, West Virginia 25305

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The Intermediate Court of Appeals' opinion in *StatOil USA Onshore, Inc. v. Irby*, 249 W. Va. 424, 895 S.E.2d 827 (2023) reversed several decisions of the Office of Tax Appeals ("OTA") and directed that Respondent, Equinor Onshore USA Properties, Inc., ("Equinor") receive over \$4.5 million in severance tax refunds for the 2014, 2016, 2018, and 2019 tax years. This Court should reverse that part of the opinion in Appeal Nos. 22-ICA-111 and 22-ICA-226 based on the following:

- I.** The lower court should not have used the net value as the starting point for calculating Equinor's severance tax liability when the statute's formula begins at the gross value.
- II.** The lower court improperly disregarded the value of the services rendered by Equinor's third-party processor when those services were part of the consideration for the sale of the gas and the statute includes their value in the amount subject to tax.
- III.** Equinor can't deduct administrative and overhead costs because the legislative rule explicitly excludes those types of expenses from the available deduction.
- IV.** Equinor can't take the fifteen percent safe-harbor deduction because it already deducted the actual costs it paid to have its gas processed and transported to market, and the rule only lets producers take one deduction or the other.

INTRODUCTION

The Intermediate Court of Appeals calculated Equinor's severance tax liability incorrectly. It used too low of a value number to start the tax formula; it disregarded a considerable, contractually established part of the value of Equinor's gas; it let Equinor deduct costs that the legislative rule excludes; and it allowed the producer to take two deductions where the rule only gives it one or the other. None of this was right. And these errors would result in millions of dollars of refunds to Equinor that it's not entitled to. This Court should fix those errors and reverse.

The lower court’s chief mistake was that it used the wrong number to start the calculation of the wellhead value of the gas Equinor severed in West Virginia. Severance tax applies to the value of the gas when it comes out of the ground at the well. But when producers sell it away from the well and after processing (as happens in most cases these days), the Severance Tax Code requires the Tax Commissioner to start with the total amount the gas sells for (*i.e.*, the “gross proceeds”) and subtract the costs of transportation, transmission, and processing to get an estimated wellhead value that can be taxed. The total gross proceeds amount is the foundation of the tax formula: all deductions are subtracted from that starting number and the tax rate is applied to the remainder. So, it’s no surprise that using the wrong number to begin the formula throws off the deductions, the taxable value amount, and the ultimate tax liability.

That’s exactly what happened below. Rather than starting with Equinor’s gross proceeds from the sale of the producer’s gas, the Intermediate Court directed OTA and the Tax Commissioner to use a “net value” amount. But Equinor’s starting gross proceeds is supposed to be “without any deduction for . . . expenses of any kind,” W. VA. CODE § 11-13A-2(b)(5), and the net value the Intermediate Court mandated already had costs for transportation, transmission, processing, administration, marketing, and overhead taken out. Using the net value instead of the gross value was an error.

Additionally, the net amount the court used ignored a substantial part of the value Equinor received from selling its gas. The Intermediate Court thought the sale that counted was between Equinor and its third-party processor, MarkWest Liberty Midstream & Resources LLC (“MarkWest”). And the court believed the money Equinor got back from MarkWest was the only value that counted for severance tax. But Equinor also received millions of dollars’ worth of processing services in that deal. The value of those services must be included in the starting gross

proceeds number, too. That's especially true here because the contracts between Equinor and MarkWest listed MarkWest's services as part of the consideration of the sale of Equinor's gas. These services also significantly increased the value Equinor got back when MarkWest sold the processed gas to its customers. And Equinor paid for those services by letting MarkWest take the first cut of the total price the processed gas sold for at the market. All that means that Equinor received both money and services in the sale of its gas and that the Intermediate Court should've included both types of value in Equinor's gross proceeds. When it didn't, it also erred.

Making matters worse, the lower court gave Equinor deductions it wasn't entitled to as well. It effectively let Equinor deduct actual administration, marketing, and overhead expenses—even though these are expressly disallowed by the legislative rule—because the net value already incorporated deductions for these costs. And it gave Equinor a fifteen percent safe harbor deduction designed as an alternative to the actual cost deduction even though the rule lets producers take one deduction or the other—but not both.

All told, the Intermediate Court was wrong to reverse OTA on the merits. It was wrong to direct the Tax Commissioner to use a net value to start Equinor's severance tax calculation. And it was wrong to give the producer multiple deductions the rule doesn't allow. This Court should reverse and remand with instructions to set the tax calculation aright.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. West Virginia's Severance Tax Formula Starts With The Gross Proceeds and Works Back to the Taxable Wellhead Value of the Gas.

West Virginia imposes an annual tax on producers engaged “in the business of severing” natural resources “for sale, profit or commercial use,” W. VA. CODE § 11-13A-3a(a) (2006). Severing means “the physical removal of the natural resources from the earth or waters of this state.” W. VA. CODE § 11-13A-2(c)(11). Natural resources subject to the tax include “natural gas,

oil and natural gas liquids.” W. VA. CODE § 11-13A-2(c)(8) (2004), *amended* (2021). The tax is generally calculated on the “market value of the natural resource” at the point “where [it is] severed” from the ground and is “commercially marketable or usable.” W. VA. CODE § 11-13A-2(c)(6). For natural gas and natural gas liquids (“NGLs”), that point is “at the wellhead,” W. VA. CODE § 11-13A-2(c)(6)(G)—an industry term meaning: “where [gas] first emerges from the ground” in raw unprocessed form—*i.e.*, “the head of the well.” *Leggett v. EQT Prod. Co.*, 239 W. Va. 264, 271, 800 S.E.2d 850, 857 (2017) (regarding use of term in royalty contracts), *superseded by statute on other grounds as recognized in SWN Prod. Co. v. Kellum*, 247 W. Va. 78, 85, 875 S.E.2d 216, 223 (2022).

Historically, that’s where most, if not all, “oil and gas sales occurred.” *Leggett*, 239 W. Va. at 271, 800 S.E.2d at 857. Gas was removed from the ground and sold directly to interstate pipeline operators who “undertook the expense of [transporting and] preparing” it for sale at the commercial market. *Id.* For those wellhead sales, calculating taxable value was straightforward: “The entire output of natural gas from” the well was “purchase[d] at the well head” for a definite price. W. VA. CODE R. § 110-13A-2a.10.1 (1992). So, the producer would report that exact amount on its “severance tax return . . . as gross income,” *id.*, and pay taxes on that gross value.

But these days, most gas isn’t sold at the well. *Leggett*, 239 W. Va. at 271, 800 S.E.2d at 857. Instead, it is sold downline and often after the raw gas has been processed into its several marketable components. *Id.* The sales price for these downline sales is often higher than at the well to account for the enhanced value of the more refined products and to compensate producers for the added costs of transporting and processing the gas. *Id.*

Likewise, the taxable value calculation is not as simple as in wellhead sales. Producers are still taxed on the gas’s wellhead value: they must “file an annual return,” W. VA. CODE § 11-13A-

8, that shows “the gross proceeds derived from the sales” of their gas, *id.* § 11-13A-3a(b). Their reported “gross proceeds” must include “the value, whether in money or other property, actually proceeding from the sale” of their gas “or from the rendering of services” and must be reported prior to “any deduction[s]” for costs “or expenses of any kind.” W. VA. CODE § 11-13A-2(b)(5). But since they aren’t selling the gas at the well, their gross proceeds are just the start of the formula.

From there, producers get to subtract either actual costs of transportation, transmission, and processing as deductions, W. VA. CODE R. § 110-13A-4.8.1 (1992), or fifteen percent of their gross proceeds to account for the same costs, *id.* § 110-13A-4.8.4.¹ Either deduction is designed to work-backwards to mathematically determine the value of gas before the producer incurs transportation and processing costs—*i.e.*, at the point when the gas is severed. W. VA. CODE § 11-13A-2(c)(6) (2004) *amended* (2021). They are then taxed at “five percent of” the wellhead value. W. VA. CODE § 11-13A-3a(b).

II. Equinor’s Production, Processing, And Sale Of Natural Gas.

Equinor is a natural gas producer that drills wells in West Virginia. Its wells generate a mixture of water, sediment, and various liquid and gaseous natural resources. A.R.610, 952. Once out of the ground, the mixture goes through various pieces of Equinor’s production equipment—separators, line heaters, dehydrators, and compressors—that separate the water, sediment, and oil from the raw gas and transform it into “pipeline specifications.” A.R.952. After this, the raw gas is metered, measured, and transferred to a processing plant owned and operated by MarkWest, A.R.952, who “provide[s] gas processing services to” Equinor. A.R.1151.

¹ Alternatively, producers can use Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) data, W. VA. CODE R. § 110-13A-4.8.2, or “same pool” “average purchase price” numbers, *id.* § 110-13A-4.8.3, to establish their wellhead value. But these other methods are rarely, if ever, used.

At this point, the raw gas could include both “raw make,” (*i.e.*, the unprocessed “conglomerate of all the NGLs”), A.R.953, 1139, and residue gas, A.R.611, but the exact volume of each product is unknown until after processing. *CNX Gas Co. v. Irby*, No. 23-ICA-36, 2024 WL 1261813, *4 (Mar. 25, 2024) (mem. decision) (acknowledging “risk of uncertainty in determining the ratio of methane, ethane, butane, and propane present in any unprocessed mixture” of gas). Still, under a purchase agreement, MarkWest takes title to Equinor’s raw make once the gas is delivered at the receipt point, A.R.1126, 1143—typically the inlet value of the processing plant. A.R.966. But Equinor retains title to any of its residue gas as it moves through MarkWest’s system. A.R.611. From there, MarkWest breaks down and processes the raw gas into residue gas or methane, A.R.954, and raw make. A.R.953, 1139. The residue gas, if any, is delivered back to Equinor who sells it to customers. A.R.976, 1161. Then, the raw make is transferred to a fractionation plant, A.R.611, where MarkWest separates it into various marketable NGL components: ethane, butane, and propane. A.R.953.

After fractionation, MarkWest brings these processed NGLs to a delivery point where Equinor can elect to “take all or a portion of” them “in kind.” A.R.1132. If it declines this option, “MarkWest shall purchase all” of the processed NGLs “from” Equinor, and correspondingly, Equinor “shall sell all” of the NGLs to MarkWest. A.R.1132. The contract provides that this sale occurs “at the Delivery Point,” A.R.1132, which is after MarkWest has processed the NGLs, A.R.967, and Equinor has declined its take-in-kind rights. A.R.1132. MarkWest then markets and sells the NGLs to customers. A.R.962, 1133.

After that, MarkWest and Equinor settle up with each other. MarkWest takes the monthly “weighted average” price per gallon it receives from its customers for each type of NGL (ethane, butane, and propane), A.R.1132; multiples that per gallon price by the volume of each NGL it

processed for Equinor, A.R.1132; and sums the separate NGL values for a total which it describes as a monthly “product value” or “gross value.” A.R.611. This product value would “otherwise [be] due,” A.R.1175, and “payable,” A.R.1142, to Equinor as the price of its gas, except that MarkWest services aren’t free. As “consideration” for “the receipt and exchange” of the NGLs, Equinor must pay MarkWest several fees related to its services. A.R.1128. For example, for each gallon of “fractionated products” (*i.e.*, NGLs) MarkWest purchases at the delivery point, Equinor agrees to pay “a fractionation fee” calculated at “\$ [REDACTED],” A.R.1128, and a “marketing fee” of “\$ [REDACTED].” A.R.1129. Equinor also pays MarkWest various receipt point, loading, and administrative fees. A.R.1128-30, 1132. And it agrees to pay similar fees for the processing of its methane gas. A.R.1174.

But Equinor doesn’t typically write a check to cover those fees. Instead, the contract lets MarkWest “deduct[]” the fees “from the amounts payable to” Equinor (*i.e.*, the “gross” product value). A.R.1142. MarkWest accounts for these multi-faceted payments in statements it provides Equinor each month. These identify the quantity of various NGLs processed from Equinor’s raw gas, the price per gallon for each product, and the total value for each product. The statements also detail the various marketing, pipeline, and fractionation fees Equinor is charged each month. A.R.812. They list a “gross value,” the total “fees and adjustments” deducted, and the resulting “net value.” A.R.812. For example, the statement from January 2015 lists the gross value at \$ [REDACTED]. A.R.812. And it lists \$ [REDACTED] in fees that were deducted from that gross to get the resulting net value of \$ [REDACTED]. A.R.812. As long as the gross value amount exceeds the fees, MarkWest pays Equinor the “net amount,” but if the fees exceed the gross, Equinor “shall pay MarkWest” the difference. A.R.1174.

III. Equinor Files Several Years Returns Based On Gross Proceeds, Amends Them To Report Net Proceeds, And Requests Refunds Which Are Denied.

When Equinor filed its returns for 2014, 2015, 2016, 2018, and 2019, it used the gross value amount listed on MarkWest's statements as the starting point of its tax calculations. This resulted in a total severance tax payment of over \$42 million for these five years. A.R.918 (2014: \$ [REDACTED]); A.R.1615 (2015: \$ [REDACTED]); A.R.910 (2016: \$ [REDACTED]); A.R.1978 (2018: \$ [REDACTED]); A.R.1981 (2019: \$ [REDACTED]).

Later on, a tax service firm, Ryan LLC, reviewed Equinor's severance tax returns, A.R.940, and in 2018, filed amended returns for Equinor requesting over \$19 million in refunds for these five tax years. A.R.1079, *see also* A.R.918 (2014: \$ [REDACTED]); A.R.1615 (2015: \$ [REDACTED]); A.R.910 (2016: \$ [REDACTED]); A.R.1978 (2018: \$ [REDACTED]); A.R.1981 (2019: \$ [REDACTED]). The Tax Division reviewed each amended return, and while finding some parts appropriate, the Division determined that Ryan had subtracted all the fees Equinor paid to MarkWest (including administrative, marketing, and overhead fees) from the gross values reported on Equinor's original returns. A.R.1080.

The Division also found that Ryan claimed the fifteen percent safe-harbor cost deduction on top of these actual cost deductions, A.R.1080, even though the rule only lets producers take one or the other. *See* W. VA. CODE R. § 110-13A-4.8. So, the Tax Commissioner granted nearly \$13 million in refunds, A.R.887 (\$2014: \$ [REDACTED]); A.R.1931 (2015: \$ [REDACTED]); A.R.856 (2016: \$ [REDACTED]); A.R.2063 (2018: \$ [REDACTED]); A.R. 2026 (2019: \$ [REDACTED]), which included actual costs Equinor paid to MarkWest for transportation, transmission, and processing. A.R.887. But he denied the remaining \$5,353,524.49 refund Equinor claimed for these five years because this part improperly deducted administrative and overhead costs as well as the safe-harbor deduction, A.R.887.

IV. Equinor Appeals To OTA, Which Upholds The Tax Commissioner’s Refund Denial.

Equinor timely appealed four of the five refund denials to the Office of Tax Appeals,² all the cases were consolidated, A.R.1972, and a hearing was held on the 2014 and 2016 refunds as test cases for the other tax years.

At that hearing, Thomas Gaytan, a Ryan consultant, testified that he believed the “net price” MarkWest paid Equinor is the producer’s gross proceeds, A.R.953, and should be used to start Equinor’s severance tax calculation. He testified that the only money Equinor receives for its gas is the “net value” amount listed on the monthly statements from MarkWest and that the “product value” on those statements is “what MarkWest” made when it sold the processed NGLs “to a third party.” A.R.956. But he admitted that the only “compensation” MarkWest receives “is the fees that are” deducted from the monthly product value. A.R.973. He also conceded that Equinor would “owe” MarkWest “those fees” even if its NGLs sold for nothing. A.R.974. He further admitted that MarkWest’s services “obtain[ed] a greater value for the NGLs” and allowed the “NGLs” to be sold “to market at a higher price.” A.R.978.

Mr. Gaytan also conceded that in August 2018 Equinor had to write a check to MarkWest to cover those fees. A.R.993, 738. In that month, MarkWest’s fees were over twice the “product value” it obtained from selling Equinor’s NGLs. A.R.738. But Equinor still owed MarkWest for its services. A.R.1175. So, it wrote MarkWest a check for \$977,442.26, A.R.738, 993.

² Equinor was eleven months late filing its appeal of the 2015 refund denial and OTA initially dismissed because the 60-day appeal window under West Virginia Code Section 11-10-14(d)(1) is jurisdictional. A.R.1610. That dismissal was reversed by the Circuit Court of Kanawha County on equitable estoppel grounds. A.R.1610. But on the Tax Commissioner’s cross-assignment of error, the Intermediate Court reversed the circuit court and remanded the 2015 case, No. 22-ICA-225, to OTA with directions to dismiss because Equinor’s late filing deprived OTA of jurisdiction and the delay wasn’t excused by equitable estoppel. *StatOil*, 249 W. Va. at --, 895 S.E.2d at 834. This part of the lower appellate court’s decision is the subject of Equinor’s separate appeal in *StatOil USA Onshore Props. v. Irby*, No. 23-760.

Still, Mr. Gaytan believed the fees Equinor paid to MarkWest shouldn't be counted as actual costs because they were "incurred" in MarkWest's system, A.R.958, and were not expenses Equinor incurred to get its gas from the well "to the point of sale in Equinor's system." A.R.958. He said that Equinor owns the well and the processing equipment in the field, including separators, heaters, dehydrators, and compressors, but MarkWest owns the processing and fractionation plants. A.R.952. He also pointed out that, under the contracts, title to the NGLs passed to MarkWest at the "receipt point" (*i.e.*, the beginning of MarkWest's plants), so he believed the "sale" between Equinor and MarkWest occurred there, A.R.971, *see also* A.R.961 (Gayton: stating that the sale between Equinor and MarkWest took place "[a]t the receipt point of the inlet of the plant"), even though the contract says that Equinor "shall sell all" of the NGLs to MarkWest "at the Delivery Point," A.R.1132, which is after MarkWest processes the NGLs into separate marketable commodities. A.R.967.

Mr. Gaytan also acknowledged that the contracts allow Equinor to take "in-kind" NGLs after processing. A.R.961. But he said that option wasn't exercised in 2014 and 2016, A.R.961, or in any of the tax years at issue, A.R.984. Regardless, he believed the sale "occurred" at "the receipt point" when MarkWest first took title to the NGLs in the raw make, A.R.971, that only the money MarkWest pays Equinor should be accounted for in the tax calculation, and that Equinor should get to take the fifteen percent safe harbor deduction for its costs. A.R.963.

Stacy Acree, Director of the Tax Commissioner's Tax Account Administration Division, also testified at the hearing. She explained that when Equinor reported its "gross proceeds" on its amended return, it had already deducted tens of millions of dollars in costs paid to MarkWest for processing its gas. A.R.1059. For example, in 2016 alone, Equinor reported \$ [REDACTED] in "product value" from MarkWest. A.R.912. But when it filed its amended returns for this year, it

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