NO. 24-26

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Jul 08 2024
01:36PM EDT
Transaction ID 73566306

MATTHEW IRBY, STATE TAX COMMISSIONER OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent below, Petitioner,

v.

EQUINOR USA ONSHORE
PROPERTIES, INC.,

Petitioner below, Respondent.

RESPONSE BRIEF OF EQUINOR USA ONSHORE PROPERTIES INC.

Alexander Macia, Esq. (WV Bar No. 6077)
Paul G. Papadopoulos, Esq. (WV Bar No. 5570)
Chelsea E. Thompson, Esq. (WV Bar No. 12565)
Spilman Thomas & Battle PLLC
300 Kanawha Boulevard, East
Charleston, WV 25301
304-340-3800
amacia@spilmanlaw.com
ppapadopoulos@spilmanlaw.com
cthompson@spilmanlaw.com
Counsel for Respondent
Equinor USA Onshore Properties Inc.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case turns on statutory interpretation—how severance taxes are calculated. The applicable statutes and regulations in West Virginia Code § 11-13A-1 *et seq.* put forth a formula for calculating severance taxes, and this Court has determined the principles governing how to interpret those tax statutes and regulations. The Tax Commissioner’s argument violates those statutes, regulations, and caselaw in numerous ways that results in an overvaluation of Equinor’s gross proceeds and tax liability. Principally, it does so by: (a) valuing the natural gas based on what MarkWest, the initial purchaser, received from a subsequent sale of the natural gas to third parties, and not on the value Equinor, the producer, actually received, (b) misclassifying MarkWest’s expenses as Equinor’s actual transportation and transmission expenses, and (c) denying Equinor the 15% safe harbor set forth in the regulations to account for the transportation and transmission of the natural gas and NGLs through Equinor’s system to the “Plant Inlet” where it sells the same to MarkWest. This response brief details those violations, and outlines how Equinor and the ICA correctly applied the undisputed facts of this case to the clear and unambiguous wording of the statutes and regulations to properly calculate the severance tax.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to Rule 18(a)(4) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, Equinor respectfully requests that this Court grant oral argument, as it believes the decision-making process in this case would be significantly aided by oral argument. Rule 19(a)(1) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure states that a case is suitable for Rule 19 oral argument if it involves “assignments of error in the application of settled law” Here, all of the assignments of error have to do with the application of well-settled severance tax law in West Virginia.

Furthermore, Equinor respectfully requests entry of a decision through a signed opinion.

Because the Tax Commissioner is seeking a reversal of the ICA's decision, this case is not appropriate for a memorandum decision, which is only permitted in limited circumstances not present here, as set forth in Rule 21(d) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure.

ARGUMENT

The ICA correctly decided the valuation of Equinor's NGLs for severance tax purposes, and this Court should affirm its decision in that respect.

I. Jurisdiction

Pursuant to West Virginia Code § 29A-6-1 and West Virginia Code § 51-11-10, this Court has jurisdiction over this matter as it is an appeal of a final decision of the ICA.

II. Standard of Review

This Court has outlined the standard of review applicable to this case as follows:

In an administrative appeal from the decision of the West Virginia Office of Tax Appeals, this Court will review the final order of the circuit court pursuant to the standards of review in the State Administrative Procedures Act set forth in W. Va. Code § 29A-5-4(g) [1988]. Findings of fact of the administrative law judge will not be set aside or vacated unless clearly wrong, and, although administrative interpretation of State tax provisions will be afforded sound discretion, this Court will review questions of law *de novo*. West Virginia Code § 29A-5-4(g) provides, in relation to the circuit court's review:

The court may affirm the order or decision of the agency or remand the case for further proceedings. It shall reverse, vacate or modify the order or decision of the agency if the substantial rights of the petitioner or petitioners have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions decision or order are:

- (1) In violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; or
- (2) In excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the agency; or
- (3) Made upon unlawful procedures; or
- (4) Affected by other error of law; or

- (5) Clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (6) Arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

Further, “[t]he ‘clearly wrong’ and the ‘arbitrary and capricious’ standards of review are deferential ones which presume an agency’s actions are valid as long as the decision is supported by substantial evidence or by a rational basis.” Syl. Pt. 3, *In re Queen*, 196 W. Va. 442, 473 S.E.2d 483 (1996).

See Antero Res. Corp. v. Steager, 244 W. Va. 81, 84-85, 851 S.E.2d 527, 530-531 (2020).

III. The Operation and Calculation of the State Severance Tax Code

West Virginia imposes a tax upon producers, like Equinor, for the privilege of severing natural resources within its borders. W.Va. Code § 11-13A-3a(a). For gas and oil, this tax is equal to “five percent of the gross value of the natural gas or oil produced by the producer as shown by the *gross proceeds derived from the sale thereof by the producer . . .*” W.Va. Code § 11-13A-3a(b) (emphasis added). The gross value of the natural gas therefore determines the amount of the severance tax owed to the state by the producer. *Id.* The statute and legislative rules further confirm that “gross value” for natural gas is the “value of the natural gas at the well head immediately preceding transportation and transmission.” W.Va. Code R. § 110-13A-2a.10.1; W.Va. Code § 11-13A-2(c)(6)(G) (same); *see also* W. Va. Code R. § 110-13A-2.7 (definition of gross value of natural resources generally “means the market value of the natural resources product, in the immediate vicinity, where severed . . .”). The severance tax therefore aims to tax the value of natural gas at a specific point in time—immediately upon severance from the earth—and at a specific geographic location known as the wellhead. *See, e.g.*, W.Va. Code § 11-13A-2(c)(8) (“gross value” generally is “the market value of natural resource product, *in the immediate vicinity, where severed*”) (emphasis added); W.Va. Code R. § 110-13A-2a.10.1; W.Va. Code R. § 110-13A-2.7.

To value natural gas at this specific time and place, West Virginia Code § 11-13A-3a(b) directs us to look at the “gross proceeds derived from the sale thereof by the producer” of the natural gas. “Gross proceeds” is defined as “the value, whether in money or other property, actually proceeding from the sale or lease of tangible personal property, or from the rendering of services, without any deduction for the cost of property sold or leased or expenses of any kind.” W.Va. Code. § 11-13A-2(b)(5). The code contains a similar definition of “gross value” specific to natural resources, where “gross value is the gross proceeds received or receivable by the taxpayer.” W.Va. Code § 11-13A-2(c)(6)(A) Thus, the touchstone of this calculation is the money actually received in a sale of the natural gas by the producer (or taxpayer)—that money received constitutes gross value and gross proceeds and, ultimately, is key to determining the amount of severance tax owed.

This calculation of severance tax can be complicated by the current industry practice. Previously, natural gas was sold literally at the wellhead; nowadays, it is usually transported, minimally processed to comply with pipeline specifications, and then sold away from the wellhead. *See Leggett v. EQT Prod. Co.*, 239 W. Va. 264, 271, 800 S.E.2d 850, 857 (2017).

To address this valuation issue and to ensure the tax is applied uniformly to all wells, West Virginia’s severance tax legislative rules provide four different methods by which a producer/taxpayer may calculate the wellhead value of the natural gas even when the natural gas is not literally sold at the wellhead. W.Va. Code. R. § 110-13A-4.8.1 *et seq.* These methods permit a producer to deduct from the gross proceeds from sale certain defined transportation and transmission costs associated with getting the natural gas from the wellhead to the point of sale, thereby performing a “netback” calculation of the value at the wellhead. *Id.*

This case addresses three aspects of calculating severance tax: (a) what figure on the settlement statements constitutes Equinor’s gross proceeds; (b) whether fees on the settlement

statements qualify as Equinor’s actual transportation and transmission costs under West Virginia Regulation § 110-13A-4.8.1 (hereinafter “Regulation 4.8.1”); and (c) whether Equinor may deduct the 15% safe harbor, which was the deduction method it selected.

IV. The “Net Value” on Settlement Statements Is the Proper Starting Point for the Valuation of the Natural Gas at the Wellhead and the Tax Commissioner’s Argument for “Product Value” Violates Numerous Statutes and Regulations

The Tax Commissioner’s Assignment of Error No. 1 opposes using the “net value” on the settlement statements, and he urges this Court to hold that the higher “product value” constitutes Equinor’s gross value and gross proceeds, upon which the severance tax is imposed. This argument, however, is contrary to many of the clear and unambiguous statutes and regulations dictating how severance tax is calculated.

A. The Code Is Clear that Severance Tax Is Only Assessed on the Money Equinor Actually Received in Its Sale of Raw Gas to MarkWest

The starting point for calculating the gross value of the natural gas at the wellhead immediately upon severance is found in West Virginia Code § 11-13A-3a(b), which states that gross value is “shown by the gross proceeds derived from the sale thereof by the producer.” W.Va. Code § 11-13A-3a(b). The regulations clarify that gross proceeds are “the value, whether in money or other property, *actually proceeding from the sale* or lease of tangible personal property, or from the rendering of services, without any deduction for the cost of property sold or leased or expenses of any kind.” W.Va. Code. § 11-13A-2(b)(5) (emphasis added). When it comes to producers of natural resources, like Equinor, there is the added statute holding that “gross value is the gross proceeds received or receivable by the taxpayer.” W.Va. Code § 11-13A-2(c)(6)(A). The legal framework is therefore consistent: the starting number for calculating severance tax is the money the producer actually receives in the sale of the natural resources.

Any doubt on this point is resolved by the severance tax legislative rules, which contain a hypothetical example of how to calculate gross value for natural gas: “A is a producer of natural gas within West Virginia. The entire output of natural gas from A’s well is purchased at the well head by a public utility for \$25,000. On his severance tax return, A will report \$25,000 as gross income.” W.Va. Code R. § 110-13A-2a.10.1. Given the amount of money actually received in the above example (\$25,000) matches the gross value and gross proceeds reported for severance tax purposes (\$25,000), the state rule provides further confirmation that the money *actually received in a sale* determines gross proceeds. *Id.*

When statutes and rules are, like these, “clear and unambiguous,” they will be “applied and not construed.” Syl. Pt. 1, in part, *State v. Elder*, 152 W. Va. 571, 165 S.E.2d 108 (1968). “Where the language of a statute is free from ambiguity, its plain meaning is to be accepted and applied without resort to interpretation.” Syl. Pt. 2, *Crockett v. Andrews*, 153 W. Va. 714, 172 S.E.2d 384 (1970). “If the text of a statute, given its plain meaning, answers the interpretive question, the language must prevail and further inquiry is foreclosed.” *Appalachian Power Co. v. State Tax Dep’t of West Virginia*, 195 W.Va. 573, 587, 466 S.E.2d 424, 438 (1995). In light of this clear and unambiguous precedent, the money Equinor *actually receives* from MarkWest in the sale of raw gas should be the starting number for calculating severance tax.

We therefore consider what money Equinor actually received in the sale of its raw gas. It is undisputed that Equinor sells raw gas to MarkWest, and MarkWest authors monthly settlement statements. Those settlement statements recount the money MarkWest actually received for selling the NGLs to third parties (known as “product values”), detail the fees that MarkWest incurred in processing and selling the NGLs, and provide the “net value” that is ultimately paid by MarkWest to Equinor. A.R.0611 at ¶10-11; A.R.0812-A.R.0818 (examples of settlement statements);

A.R.0954-A.R.0959 (testimony of Tomas Gaytan regarding example settlement statements); A.R.0484. As recognized by WVOTA, “it is undisputed between the parties” that MarkWest pays Equinor, and Equinor actually receives, only the “net value” listed on the settlement statements in exchange for the raw gas. A.R.0612 at ¶14; A.R.0484; A.R.1017-A.R.1021 (testimony of Randy Aram regarding payment and verification of payment from MarkWest to Equinor). This is reflected in the NGL Agreement, which states that [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED] A.R.0747 at ¶5(C)(i)-(ii). There is no factual dispute that Equinor is paid only the “net value” on the settlement statements, as clearly shown by testimonial and documentary verification of the funds actually received by Equinor. *See, e.g.*, A.R.0612 at ¶14; A.R.0720-A.R.0141 (Affidavit of Randy Aram and Swee Pang regarding payment to Equinor); A.R.1017-A.R.1021 (testimony regarding the same).

A straightforward application of these facts to the plain language of the statutes and regulations outlined above leaves only one result—Equinor’s gross proceeds are equal to the “net value” on the settlement statements, because that is the only money that it actually receives in its sale of raw gas to MarkWest. Given that the applicable statute answers the question of which figure on the settlement statements is Equinor’s gross proceeds, there is no need for interpretation or “further inquiry.” This point resolves in Equinor’s favor, as the ICA aptly explained: “the correct figure to determine the value of the NGLs at the wellhead for severance tax purposes is the *gross amount Equinor receives from MarkWest*, not the product value shown on the settlement statements.” A.R.0494 (emphasis added). The ICA further noted that the product value reflects “MarkWest’s sales of processed product to third parties” [REDACTED]

[REDACTED] ” *Id.* The

product value therefore cannot be the gross value or gross proceeds of Equinor’s natural gas at the wellhead because it is the money MarkWest (who is not the producer upon which severance tax is being assessed) receives in a secondary sale. *See* W.Va. Code § 11-13A-3a(b) (“gross proceeds derived from the sale thereof *by the producer*”) (emphasis added). The ICA concluded that the Tax Commissioner’s “attempt to extend the tax to greater values than amounts actually received by a producer from an unrelated third party” violated the applicable statutes, had to be tempered by judicial limits, and may have constitutional implications. A.R.0949.

In this appeal, the Tax Commissioner goes beyond the clear meaning of the severance tax statutes, ignores the ICA’s gentle warnings, and still urges the Court to use the higher “product value” listed in settlement statements as Equinor’s gross proceeds. There is no factual basis for doing so, only the Tax Commissioner’s arbitrary and capricious desire to assess tax on a higher value. The “product value” is undisputedly the money MarkWest receives in a sale to third parties—it is *not* the money that Equinor receives. A.R.0494. [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED] A.R.0747 at ¶ 5(C)(i)-(ii) (emphasis added). This conforms with the testimony Equinor offered at the evidentiary hearing, namely that the product value is what MarkWest receives for the resale of NGLs. *See, e.g.*, A.R.0956. Equinor, at no time, is actually paid the often higher “product value” listed on the settlement statements. *See, e.g.*, A.R.0612 at ¶13 (compare \$386,174.91 product value with \$341,383.23 net value in the January 31, 2015 statement); A.R.0720-A.R.0141; A.R.1017-A.R.1021. Given these undisputed facts, the “product value” cannot be the starting point for the calculation of Equinor’s severance tax calculation, because it is not the money that it, as the

producer, ever actually receives for the sale of its raw gas—the product value is money that goes elsewhere.

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